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 Questions Response 

 General  

1. Will the presentation be available online? The presentation is available for download at: 
http://mission.sfgov.org/OCABidPublication/BidD
etail.aspx?K=11766 

2. 
Are you the point of contact for this RFP? 

Clarissa Mamaril – Clarissa.mamaril@flysfo.com 

3. 
We request that you reconsider the decision to offer each 
location individually. Instead we request you combine specialty 
retail space G.3.019A (in boarding area G) and newsstand 
space G.3.044 (in boarding area G) into one lease package; and 
newsstand space A.3.014 (in boarding area A) and specialty 
retail space A.3.013 (in boarding area A) into another lease 
package.   
The reason for this request is that newsstands typically are the 
most profitable retail locations in airports; comparatively, 
specialty retail, especially stores that sell unique locally 
produced items, have lower profit margins. Standing alone, 
unique brands (that really create a sense of place) are not 
typically as economically viable for operators and therefore will 
deliver a lower economic return to the airport as a byproduct. 
Combining these specialty retail locations with newsstands 
creates economics that give proposers the flexibility to propose 
brands that will set SFO apart, instead of just the typical 
specialty retail offerings you see in any airport. 

The Airport will retain the current Lease 
packages as set forth in the RFP document. 

4. 
If the Proposer proposes the same concept on different 
locations, does he have to submit 2 separate proposals? 

Yes, the proposer must submit 1 proposal for 
each Lease that is proposed upon. 

5. 
Could you provide passenger traffic forecast? If such a 
document is not available, could you confirm that Gates G and A 
will remain international in the upcoming years?  

Currently annual enplanements in Boarding Area 
A are approximately 4 million and in Boarding 
Area G are approximately 3.5 million.  We expect 
enplanements to grown at an average rate of 2-
3% annually, however, the Airport Commission 

http://mission.sfgov.org/OCABidPublication/BidDetail.aspx?K=11766
http://mission.sfgov.org/OCABidPublication/BidDetail.aspx?K=11766
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does not guarantee future sales or 
enplanements.  

6. 
Please provide a copy of any environmental report(s) with 
respect to the premises. 

There are no environmental reports available at 
this time. 

 
ACDBE Participation 

 

7. 
In general, do all ACDBE partners require to be certified at the 
time of the proposal submittal; at the time of award; or at the 
time of opening? 

ACDBE partners must be certified at the time of 
award to be counted towards the Airport’s overall 
ACDBE goal. 

8. 
Is there a set ACDBE percentage required for these 
opportunities or has the airport goal been met through other 
leases?  

There are no individual ACDBE requirements for 
these opportunities.   

 
Minimum Qualifications 

 

9. We want to request the minimum gross sales per qualifying year 
of $2.5 million required for a qualifying Newsstand participant be 
reduced to $600k.  This will allow small SF independent 
businesses to participate. 

The Airport will retain the current Minimum 
Qualifications set forth in the RFP document. 

 Permitted Uses  

10. Please confirm that bottled beverages (water, carbonated drinks, 
juices, etc.) can be proposed for sale as part of the merchandise 
mix for Newsstand Leases No. 1, 2, and 5. 

Bottled beverages (water, carbonated drinks, 
juices, etc.) can be proposed for sale as part of 
the merchandise mix for Newsstand Leases No. 
1, 2 and 5. 

11. Please confirm that refrigerated and ambient temperature pre-
packaged foods such as pre-wrapped sandwiches, salads, fruits, 
and yogurts can be proposed for sale as part of the merchandise 
mix for Newsstand Leases No. 1, 2, and 5. 

Refrigerated and ambient pre-packaged foods 
such as pre-wrapped sandwiches, salad, fruits 
and yogurts cannot be proposed for sale as part 
of the merchandise mix for Newsstand Leases 
No. 1, 2 and 5.   

12. In the newsstands: Is it permissible to sell non espresso based 
drip coffee and/or Tea/Hot Chocolate beverages?    

Non espresso based drip coffee and/or tea/hot 
chocolate beverages cannot be sold in the 
newsstands.  
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13. In the newsstands: Please clarify that pre-made packaged 
sandwiches, salads and baked goods may be sold. 

Pre-made packaged sandwiches, salads and 
baked goods cannot sold in the newsstands. 

14. In the newsstands: Are there any set limits by square foot on any 
particular sections within the Newsstands? 

Electronics accessories such as headphones 
and chargers may be sold at the newsstands, but 
no more than 24 sq. ft. of the leased premises 
may be used for the sale of electronic 
accessories.   

15. 
With particular reference to the opportunity on G, and in relation 
to the portion of the space from Xpress Spa that becomes part of 
the Newsstand 12 months later, does the use clause require to 
fit within the newsstand category or can it be a specialty retail 
operation? 

Lease No. 5 must be operated as a newsstand. 

16. 
We feel there is considerable lack of California and local Napa 
and Sonoma area wines both for retail and consumption in the 
International Terminal.  California and wine are synonymous and 
with SFO being the California wine gateway to the world, 
representing wine country should be top of mind with 
International travelers. Would a California majority-focused wine 
boutique/shop with a tasting element and small bar and light 
food options be acceptable for the Specialty Retail leases? 

The Airport will retain the current concepts set 
forth in the RFP document. 

17. 
Exhibit B to the Specialty Concession Lease indicates that “Bath 
& Body/Cosmetics” is a category of required products.  Can the 
City please clarify that this product category does not include 
luxury or specialty beauty products, cosmetics, or perfumes? 

Bath & Body/Cosmetics is not a category of 
required products, but is one of the categories 
which can be proposed for the specialty store 
leases.  Exhibit B of Lease Nos. 3 and 4, states 
that the Tenant shall operate a specialty retail 
store in any of the following categories: 1) 
Accessories/ Jewelry/Sunglasses; 2) Bath & 
Body/Cosmetics; 3) Apparel; 4) 
Candy/Confections; 5) Bags and Travel Gear; 6) 
Gadgets; 7) Lifestyle Store; 8) Museum Store.  
With respect specifically to the Bath & 
Body/Cosmetics category, luxury or specialty 
beauty products, cosmetics, and perfumes are 
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not excluded and may be proposed for the 
specialty store leases. 

 
Drawings 

 

18. 
Could you provide .dwg layouts or detailed layouts of Spaces 
A.3.013 and G.3.019A?  

All available drawings, whether in CAD or PDF 
format, have been posted on the Airport’s 
SharePoint website.  Instructions to access the 
site can be found here: 
http://mission.sfgov.org/OCA_BID_ATTACHMEN
TS/FA48946.pdf  

If the desired format is not shown, then it is not 
available. 

19. 
I noticed differences in Sq Ft of the Presentation deck from the 
Info conference vs the BID Document. 
Can you please confirm which set we should be following? 

Drawings accessed through the SFO Sharepoint 
site are the drawings which should be used.   

 
Build-out 

 

20. 
In the proposed location for Lease 5 (Newsstand), are we 
allowed to propose a completely open storefront, given that 
there does not seem to be a structural column at the entrance 
(between the current XpressSpa location and Wheretraveler 
location). 

Yes, a completely open storefront can be 
proposed as long as there are no structural 
hindrances. 

 
RFP Document 

 

21. 
P. 11 of the RFP, Tab 5 mentions “This section shall be no 
greater than 10 pages”. Does the page limitation include 
Submittal C, renderings and merchandise list? Considering that 
Submittal has 2 pages and that we plan on submitting 2 
renderings, there isn’t much left for the detailed concept, design 
intention, customer service and quality control and merchandise 
list and prices.  

The Airport will issue an addendum to the RFP 
changing the amount of pages from 10 to 40.   

22. 
Can you confirm that Submittals D and F are to be included in 
Tabs 6 and 8 and not in Tab 5, as mentioned in Submittal C – 
Evaluation Criteria?  
 

The Financial Pro Forma (Submittal D) and the 
Minimum Annual Guarantee Offer (Submittal F) 
must be uploaded as separate files and do not 

http://mission.sfgov.org/OCA_BID_ATTACHMENTS/FA48946.pdf
http://mission.sfgov.org/OCA_BID_ATTACHMENTS/FA48946.pdf
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need to be duplicated when uploading the 
response to the Evaluation Criteria. 

 
RFP Process 

 

23. 
Will a staff report be made publically available as part of the 
agenda item for the Airport Commission hearing on the Airport’s 
website at least 72 hours prior to the Airport Commission 
hearing at which the bid is awarded?  Will the staff report include 
the staff analysis and a recommendation to the Airport 
Commission? 

Airport Commission packages are emailed to 
interested parties the Friday before the Airport 
Commission meeting.  These packages include a 
memo to members of the Airport Commission 
which details the RFP process, how the 
proposals were scored and who the apparent 
successful proposers are. 

24. 
Is the Notice of Intent to Award the Lease acted upon as an 
action item at the public hearing of the Airport Commission?  If 
not, will it be issued before or after the Airport Commission 
hearing? 

The Airport Commission awards concession 
leases at a public meeting.  Prior to the Airport 
Commission meeting at which the Leases will be 
awarded, Airport staff will notify all proposers 
simultaneously via USPS and email of the 
names of the apparent successful proposers.    

25. 
By what means will the City notify bidders and the public that the 
Leases have been awarded?  Will a Notice of Intent to Award 
the Lease be sent to all bidders simultaneously? 

The Airport Commission awards concession 
leases at a public meeting.  Prior to the Airport 
Commission meeting at which the Leases will be 
awarded, Airport staff will notify all proposers 
simultaneously via USPS and email of the 
names of the apparent successful proposers.    

26. 
Will all bid proposals be made available for review on the City’s 
website on the same day as the award of the Leases is 
announced? 

Requests to review proposals must be submitted 
to the Airport.  Consistent with the San Francisco 
Sunshine Ordinance, access to proposals will be 
given only after final Board of Supervisors 
approval of the Leases.   

27. 
The “Sunshine Ordinance” provision of the RFP (Part V, Section 
12) provides that no disclosure of any private person’s or 
organization’s net worth or other proprietary financial data 
submitted for qualification is required until and unless that 
person or organization is awarded the contract, but does that not 
affirmatively prohibit such disclosure.  Can the City confirm that 

In response to a request for public records under 
the San Francisco Sunshine Ordinance, the 
Airport will not disclose proprietary financial data 
submitted by unsuccessful proposers.  This 
exemption from disclosure does not apply to 
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no such proprietary information will be disclosed unless and until 
the Leases are awarded?  Can the City maintain the 
confidentiality of proprietary information of the organization or 
person to whom the Lease is awarded?  Will the City notify a 
bidder if there is a request for disclosure of their proposal or its 
content? 

information submitted by the successful proposer 
following lease award and final approval, 
although other exemptions from disclosure may 
apply.  The Airport will not typically notify 
proposers when it responds to public records 
requests.  Proposers may mark proprietary 
financial data in the Proposals as “confidential”.  
The Airport will consider such markings when 
responding to public records requests.   

28. 
Can a bidder submit to the City for expedited review and 
approval, prior to submission of the bid, the form of letter of 
credit, proposal bond and performance bond that would be 
supplied by the bidder’s bank? 

No, the proposers may not submit letters of 
credit, proposal bonds or performance bonds for 
review prior to submission of the proposal.  If an 
unacceptable format is submitted, the proposal 
may be disqualified.  

29. 
Will bidders have an opportunity to ask follow-up questions and 
clarifications to any responses given by the City in response to 
this round of questions? 

There will be no opportunities to ask follow-up 
questions or for clarifications to any responses 
given by the City in response to these questions. 

 
RFP Scoring 

 

30. 
Following award of the bid or as part of any staff report and 
recommendation prior to the award of the bid, will the scoring 
sheets for the bid proposals be made available to all bidders? 

The proposers may request copies of the scoring 
sheets following award of the Lease by the 
Airport Commission. 

31. 
How will any ACDBE program or commitment proposed by a 
bidder be evaluated by the City?  

No points will be awarded for ACDBE 
participation. 

 
Lease Document 

 

32. 
Would the City consider a general force majeure provision with 
respect to delays in Tenant’s performance under the Leases 
(including, without limitation in connection with opening for 
business, a Required Relocation or a Premises Change), and 
make provision for relief where a delay is caused by the City’s 
delay in delivery of all or a portion of the Premises, or any other 
causes or circumstances (such as terrorism, natural disaster, 
etc.) beyond Tenant’s control? 

The Airport will retain the current Lease 
language as set forth in the RFP document. 
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33. 
In Section 1.2 of the Lease, would the City consider including 
covenants to provide as much advance notice as reasonably 
possible with respect to a Required Relocation or Premises 
Change (but no less than six months) and to use reasonable 
efforts to avoid interruptions to Tenant’s business?  Would the 
City also consider providing for some form of rent abatement or 
reimbursement of moving expenses, in addition to 
reimbursement for remodeling work? 

The Airport will retain the current Lease 
language as set forth in the RFP document. 

34. 
In Section 1.2(b) of the Lease, Tenant’s only remedy in the event 
it disapproves of the relocated premises is to terminate the 
lease.  Would the City also consider a proportional MAG 
adjustment, based upon space productivity, in the event of a 
relocation to a less desirable location? 

The Airport will retain the current Lease 
language as set forth in the RFP document. 

35. 
In Section 2.3 of the Lease, would the City consider granting 
some relief (such as notice and cure periods and force majeure 
protection) from the 60-day termination right for the late opening, 
as the City would also have the benefit of the $500 per day 
liquidated damages and the Base Rent under the Lease? 

The Airport will retain the current Lease 
language as set forth in the RFP document. 

36. 
In Section 2.5 of the Lease, would the City consider making the 
one-year extension options exercisable by mutual agreement of 
Tenant and the City? 

The Airport will retain the current Lease 
language as set forth in the RFP document. 

37. 
If the Premises are required in support of the Airport’s Five-Year 
or 10-Year Capital Plan, will the City attempt to relocate the 
Premises in accordance with Section 1.2 of the Lease, prior to 
terminating the Lease in accordance with Section 2.7? 

Yes, the City will attempt to relocate the 
Premises.  Early terminations are unusual. 

38. 
In Section 3.6 of the Lease, would the City consider a more 
specific and defined standard for determining whether price 
adjustments are required (e.g., by comparing prices to a market 
basket of other Bay Area airports and Bay Area specialty retail 
shops or department stores within a certain radius, with a 
percentage limit (e.g., 18% on price variances)? 

The Airport will retain the current Lease 
language as set forth in the RFP document. 

39. 
In Section 3.8 of the Lease, can the City provide additional 
information on the potential additional charges for use of 
common trash areas and a consolidated distribution center, and 
any other specified charges? 

Currently (FY 16/17), trash is $394 per month for 
regular trash or $296 for green certified 
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companies.  These rates are subject to an 
annual adjustment.   

No information is currently available on a future 
consolidated distribution center or fees 
associated with it. 

40. 
In Section 4.9(b) of the Lease, would the City consider 
eliminating the termination right (or providing a notice and cure 
period) in the event of a 5% discrepancy in the audited 
financials, given that the financials are audited by an 
independent CPA and the City has other available remedies? 

The Airport will retain the current Lease 
language as set forth in the RFP document. 

41. 
In Section 4.14 of the Lease, would the City consider increasing 
the threshold for a change of control to greater than 50% rather 
than 25%? 

The Airport will retain the current Lease 
language as set forth in the RFP document. 

42. 
In Section 5 of the Lease, would the City allow the prime non-
ACDBE Tenant to provide for ACDBE participation in the 
concession by subleasing designated premises to one or more 
ACDBE subtenants, or to delegate concession operations to a 
JV in which the Tenant is the majority partner and one or more 
ACDBE partners hold a minority interest? 

There are no subleasing opportunities with these 
single store leases.  The Airport will not allow a 
tenant to sublease its entire premises or a 
portion of the premises of a single store 
lease.  Joint ventures and partnerships are 
allowed. 

43. 
In Section 5.5 of the Lease, can the City clarify how the “Excess 
Rent” formula would apply to a transfer of beneficial interest in 
Tenant? 

The excess rent provision would only apply in the 
event of a Sublease or a third-party Assignment 
approved by the Airport.  It would not apply in the 
event of a transfer of ownership interest in a 
tenant entity 

44. 
Section 7.2 of the Lease contemplates a $250-per-day fine if 
Initial Improvement Designs are not timely approved, while 
Section 7.3 of the Lease provides for the City’s right to terminate 
the Lease if Tenant fails to submit plans and specifications which 
meet the City’s approval within 30 days after the Effective Date.  
Can the City clarify the procedures with respect to the submittal 
and approval of plans and the scope of the termination right?  
Would the City consider providing more typical, detailed 
procedures with respect to the submittal and review of plans? 

The Airport strives to have concessions opened 
in a timely manner.  Section 7.3 of the Lease 
addresses the need for proposers to be ready 
with design plans and specifications within 30 
days of the Effective Date (fully executed 
agreement date) of the Lease.  The designs 
should be of high enough standard to be 
accepted by the Airport to proceed to the Design 
Review Committee (“DRC”).  The Effective Date 



INTERNATIONAL TERMINAL NEWSSTAND AND SPECIALTY RETAIL CONCESSION LEASES RFP 
 

 

 

 

for this Lease will occur after approval of the 
Lease by the San Francisco Board of 
Supervisors.  It is customary for most tenants to 
start the DRC process while Board of 
Supervisors approval is pending. 

In addition, Section 7.2 further states that a 
$250-per-day fine may be imposed if the Initial 
Improvement designs are not approved by the 
DRC and Airport Building Inspection and Code 
Enforcement thirty days in advance of the 
Commencement Date (date in which the 
premises are turned over to the tenant). 

45. 
With respect to Section 11 of the Lease, can the City provide 
additional information on the potential promotional program, and 
how the City will determine when to require the Promotional 
Charge?  Will there be an accounting to Tenant by the City as to 
how the promotional program relates to or otherwise benefits the 
businesses operated under the Leases? 

The Promotional Charge funds the Promotional 
Program.  The Airport collects $1 per square foot 
per year from in-terminal concessions tenants.  
The program includes signage, music, customer 
service training and a concessions employee 
awards program.   

46. 
Can the City please provide copies of any Sponsor’s Assurance 
Agreement as specified in Section 19.7 of the Lease, and 
include a covenant in the Leases to provide any such 
agreements? 

When airport sponsors accept funds from FAA-
administered airport financial assistance 
programs, they must agree to certain obligations 
(or assurances) to assure that the public's 
interest in civil aviation will be served.  SFO's 
grant assurances can be found at the following 
link:  https://www.faa.gov/airports/aip/grant_assu
rances/  
 

https://www.faa.gov/airports/aip/grant_assurances/
https://www.faa.gov/airports/aip/grant_assurances/

